RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN

05-15-2013

COURT OF APPEALS

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

APPEAL NO. 2012AP863-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

OMAR J. SMITH,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL TO REVIEW A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND DENIAL OF A POSTCONVICTION MOTION IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MILWAUKEE COUNTY, CASE NO. 2009CF2077, THE HONORABLE DENNIS R. CIMPL, PRESIDING

AMENDED BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

> George M. Tauscheck Attorney for Defendant-Appellant State Bar No. 1015744 4230 N. Oakland Ave. #103 Milwaukee, WI 53211 (414) 704-9451

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did Mr. Smith invoke his *Miranda* rights by unambiguously requesting counsel?

The trial court answered: No, because his request was ambiguous.

2. Was Mr. Smith denied his Confrontation Clause rights through the State's posing of questions to an unresponsive coactor who implicated Smith in the crime?

The trial court answered: No, because the limiting instruction to the jury sufficed to cure any prejudice.

3. In the alternative, was trial counsel ineffective for failing to timely object to the confrontation violation?

The trial court did not reach this issue.

4. Was the sentence imposed on Mr. Smith an abuse of discretion and unduly harsh and excessive?

The trial court answered: No.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Neither is requested.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Charges

Back on April 29, 2009, a five-count complaint was filed, alleging that Omar J. Smith committed the following crimes: one count of First Degree Reckless Homicide, Party to a Crime and Use of Dangerous Weapon, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 940.02(1) and 939.63(1)(b); two counts of Recklessly Endangering Safety, Party to a Crime and Use of a Dangerous

Weapon, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 941.30(1) and 939.63(1)(b); one count of Felon in Possession of a Firearm, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 941.29(2); and one count of Felony Bail Jumping, contrary to Wis. Stat. 94649(1)(b) (2:1-2; App. 101-102).

According to the probable cause section of the complaint (2:2-5; App. 102-104), Ashley Averiette stated that, on April 17, 2009, she was with Brittany and Jordan Alvarez at 2465 McKinley Street, a residential house in the City of Milwaukee. Several other people were outside on the front porch of the house, talking. She noticed three males who were walking westbound on the street and slowed down as they neared the house. Then she heard one loud gunshot, followed by eight to twelve more shots. Brittany Alvarez received a bullet wound in left knee.

Jennifer Langoehr, one of the women at the house, was admitted to hospital with single gunshot wound. Langoehr stated that she was on porch when three males, with black hoodies pulled up, appeared across street. She then heard more than three gunshots, but did not see who fired. She and Brittany and Jordan Alvarez were shot, and Jordan ended up dead as a result of her wounds.

Detective James Hutchinson of the Milwaukee Police Department examined the crime scene and observed seven bullet strikes to the exterior of the house with three strikes to west wall of porch, one strike to north wall, one strike to west corner, one strike to screen door and final strike to window of covered porch. He discovered two additional bullet strikes to a tree outside

The complaint also included Smith's statements to the police investigators. Smith was at his mother's house, as related by Detective Paul Lough, when it was shot up by unknown persons. Later, Smith learned that the "Deuce

Squad" had shot at his mother's house. The complaint has Smith saying that he and two others were given a ride to liquor store where they were going to scare the "Deuce Squad" guys. Smith said he didn't intend to shoot or kill anyone. Smith and his two partners saw group of about ten guys and few females in front of a residence. One of the Smith's partners said "I think that's them," referring to Deuce Squad.

Smith then started shooting toward the group of 10 people, and fired above their heads until clip was empty. He went to his mother's house and gave gun to someone to hide, and then went to girlfriend's house. Later, he heard the news about a girl who was killed and two others who had been shot. It was unintentional act, Smith explained, and he wasn't trying to hurt anyone. He didn't want to be "rat" and tell on the two other guys and would take responsibility himself.

At time of this incident, Smith was out on bail with one of the conditions being not to commit a new crime.

The Suppression Motion and Hearing

Smith filed a pretrial motion, on both state and federal constitutional grounds, to suppress the statements he made to Detectives Paul Lough and Keith Kopcha on April 25, 2009. This motion, filed on December 17, 2009, alleged that, although the detective ceased questioning Smith in response to his request for a lawyer, they reinitiated the interview and failed to stop the interview after Smith's second and very similar request for a lawyer (16:1-2; App. 105-106).

At the hearing on the motion, held on March 5 and 19, 2010, the Honorable Rebecca F. Dallet presiding, Detective Lough testified that he read Smith his Miranda rights and that Smith waived those rights (79:12). The detectives audio-

p.m., when Smith requested a lawyer (79:25). Smith requested a cigarette, but the Detectives did not have one. They picked up all of their things, including the portable tape recorder, and left the room (79:14-15).

Ten minutes later, however, one of the Detectives returned with the cigarette that Smith wanted (79:15). When the detective returned, Smith said that he wanted to tell them what happened, without a lawyer present, but he did not want to "rat on" anyone else involved (79:15, 29). This conversation occurred between 9:10 p.m. and 9:24 p.m., when the tape recorder was turned off. This 14-minute period was not recorded because, as Detective Lough testified, they only intended to give Smith a cigarette, not interview him anew (79:16).

As Detective Lough described this "second" interview, Smith started off by saying that he wanted to call his mother and his brother. The detective then broke down the interview by time of Smith's statements:

At 2:24 minutes into the interview, Smith wanted to know if the police would put in a good word for him.

At 3:03 minutes, Smith said, "I'll tell you all what I did but I don't want to tell on anybody else."

At 3:24 minutes, Smith was given fresh Miranda warnings.

At 4:28 minutes, Smith wondered if it would look bad for him if he says nothing about anybody else.

At 5:45 minutes, Smith stated, "I want to, but I kinda want a lawyer here, but I don't want it to look like ..."

– and from there the tape was indiscernible to Detective Lough (79:20-23).

Detective Lough was the only witness at the suppression hearing; Smith did not testify.

The court summarized the issue as threefold. First, since the parties agreed that Smith initially requested a lawyer, did Smith reinitiate the interview? Second, after Smith reinitiated, did he request a lawyer again? Third, was there an issue of *Goodchild* involuntariness? (80:7)

After listening to the recording, the court denied the motion. In ruling against Smith, the court found that he reinitiated the interview and that his subsequent request for counsel was ambiguous (80:19-21, 24-25; App. 108-110, 113-114). Under the case law, as the court explained, the police questioners need not clarify an ambiguous request for counsel. There was no merit to any *Goodchild* claim (80:26; App. 115).

Smith reinitiated the interview, the court said, because the officers stopped questioning him after his first request for a lawyer, gathered their things, shut off the recorder, and left the room (80:20-21; App. 109-110). They returned only to give Smith a cigarette. But when they returned, Smith said that he wanted to tell them what happened and that he would tell them what happened without a lawyer. Only then did the Detective turn the recorder back on, saying on the recording that Smith reinitiated the interview. He was not being asked any questions when the detective gave him the cigarette, and only then did Smith bring up wanting to talk again.

Fresh Miranda warnings were given at 3:24 minute mark of the second interview, with Detective Kopcha being clear that Smith had a right to remain silent (80:21-23; App. 110-112). However, at the 5:50 minute mark, when Detective Kopcha asked Smith if he wanted to tell about his part in the crime, Smith responded, "I kind of want a lawyer present, but I don't want it to look worse" (80:23; App. 112). This, the

court thought, was ambiguous and equivocal and did not require the detectives to stop their questioning of Smith.

Successor defense counsel filed a motion to reconsider Judge Dallet's decision to deny the suppression motion (31:1-3). The court, this time the Honorable Dennis R. Cimpl presiding, agreed with Judge Dallet's analysis of the issue and denied the motion (87:9).

The Jury Trial

Smith's statements played a major role in the prosecution. His statements, given to the police after his arrest as described above, were perhaps only direct evidence linking Smith to the crimes. A 47-page transcript of Smith's interview, prepared by the State and to which the accuracy was stipulated by defense counsel, was marked as Exhibit 127, received into evidence, and given to the jury as they listened to the recording of the interview (94:14-18).

Detective Keith Kopcha described the interview as the audiotape was played for the jury (94:18). As the detective related to the jury, he had map of the area of the crime, printed from Google maps, and had Smith place Xs at certain locations and draw the route that he took during the incident (94:19). Kopcha described the markings on the map, which he initialed, but Smith refused to initial (94:23). The jury continued listening to the tape of Smith's interview, interspersed with commentary from the detective about the interview and photographs of the crime scene and nearby areas to where Smith went immediately after the shootings (94:24-39).

Under cross-examination, Detective Kopcha explained that this interview was the one that Smith reinitiated and that

the police detectives started taping at 9:24 p.m. on April 25,2009 (94:44).

Detective Erik Gulbrandson testified about the recording of Smith's statement and presented a timeline of events prior to incident and leading to the arrest of Smith (96:14-20). According to Dective Gulbrandson's timeline, the house where Smith and his brother Xavier lived was "shot up" on April 14, 2009, at 11 p.m. The shooting that resulted in the death of Jordan Alvarez and the wounding of the other two women occurred on April 17, at 8:50 p.m. The autopsy of Jordan Alvarez and recovery of bullet and its identification of its caliber as 9mm occurred on April 18. Smith's brother, Xavier, was arrested on April 23, and Smith was interviewed about his involvement on April 25. Smith admitted to firing the 9mm, but refused to identify the other two subjects (96:21). On April 26, Harold Conner, known as "Juggy," arrested and admitted driving Smith, Alfonzo Treadwell, and an unidentified third person to 21st and Vliet (near where the shootings occurred) before he, Conner, continued on to a liquor store (96:21-22). Treadwell was arrested on April 27.

Upon cross-examination, Detective Gulbrandson, clarified that this timeline was prepared at the request of District Attorney's office and did not include the fact that Smith voluntarily turned himself in for questioning on April 19 and was released. Nor the fact that Xavier Smith arrested on April 23, which was dropped after arrest of Smith (96:26).

Other than the fact that these crimes had occurred, there was very little corroboration of Smith's confession. Aside from Smith's own statement, only the testimony of Harold Conner placed Smith anywhere near the scene of the crimes. Conner testified that he knew Smith and was a friend of the family (93:90-91).

On the day of the crimes, Conner described driving Smith and two others to a location that was a few blocks from McKinley Avenue, the street where the shootings occurred (93:98-100). Conner did not know why Smith and the others wanted to go that location; he assumed that they were going to visit a friend (93:101). Although Conner originally said he had dropped them off around 7 p.m., he ended up admitted it was probably around 8:30 p.m. or a little before the closing of the liquor store where he went after dropping them off (93:104-107). Conner also testified that he never waited around to pick up Smith or any of the others and never saw them with any guns (93:114).

The remainder of the State's witnesses merely offered evidence that a crime had, in fact, occurred. One group of witnesses included individuals who were present at the scene of the crime. These witnesses were Ashley Averiette, Brittany Alvarez, Jennifer Langoehr, and Jesse Walker. Nineteen-year-old Ashley Averiette described being at her birthday party with her friends Jordan and Brittany Alvarez, then going to 24th Street and McKinley, the location of Jennifer Langoehr's grandmother's house and the scene of the crime, just to "hang out" (90:46-47). They were in front of the house, talking, when someone noticed three young African American men, wearing dark clothing, across the street (90:52, 54). She glanced at them only briefly before she heard gunshots and Brittany Alvarez yelling, "I'm hit" (90:59). She saw Jordan Alvarez lying in the doorway (61). She was unable to identify the shooters (90:74).

Next, Brittany Alvarez testified that she went to 24th and McKinley with her sisters Jordan and Ashley (90:80). They were standing outside talking when her brother noticed some people walking down the street (90:83). A few second later, gunshots went off, and Brittany ran to the side of the

house where she was struck by a bullet (90:84, 86). She, too, was unable to identify the perpetrators (91:6).

Twenty-year-old Jennifer Langoehr was the next witness from the crime scene. She was inside her grandparent's house at 24th and McKinley when the shooting started around 9 p.m. (102:19). As she stood in the living room, a bullet hit her in the back (102:23). She saw three shooters, but could not even discern their race (102:34).

Finally, Jesse Walker testified that he was at the house that evening when his sister, Jordan Alvarez, was killed, and his sisters Brittany Alvarez and Jennifer Langoehr were wounded (102:76-77). Waller saw three "dudes" walking on the opposite side of the street, with their hoods pulled up (102:81-82). All three had guns and pointed them in the direction of the house (102:91). Walker heard more than 15 shots (102:92).

Besides the detectives who testified about Mr. Smith's testimony, three other police officers testified. Detective James Hutchinson described the crime scene, identified photographs of the Jordan Alvarez, and photographs of stickers reflecting bullet strikes on the house (90:22). Detective Christopher Blaszak described picking up shell casings for 45 mm, 9 mm, and 25 mm guns (91:74-86). No gun, DNA evidence, or fingerprints were recovered (91:95-97). Reginald Templin, from the Wisconsin Crime Lab, testified that a 9mm bullet was recovered from Jordan Alvarez's body, and confirmed that no gun or DNA evidence was recovered (93:47, 56).

Alfonzo Treadwell, who had already been sentenced after a guilty plea and was imprisoned for his role in this same crime, was called as a witness by the State (102:58-59). Treadwell admitted knowing Smith and identified him in court, but then he refused to answer about whether he and

Smith were involved in the shooting on (102:60). He said, "Get him on your own" (102:61). After denying that he and Smith were involved in the shooting, he refused to answer further questions from the State (102:63). The court removed the jury and then threatened Treadwell with contempt—to no avail (102:64-65).

Treadwell was passed until later, and the court suggested that the State use the lunch hour to see if he would cooperate upon being recalled to the witness stand (102:66). Defense counsel objected on the grounds that Smith had the right to face his accusers (102:66). The court did not rule on the objection, only noting that Treadwell could be declared unavailable (under the evidentiary rules) and that could be considered upon Treadwell's recall to the witness stand, assuming he continues his refusal to answer questions (102:67).

Treadwell was recalled for the afternoon session of that same day (93:59). The court told Treadwell to sit up and answer questions (93:61). But he did not. Instead, he sat unresponsive as the State proceeded to ask him a string of questions about Smith and his involvement in the crime. Among the more damaging statements that the prosecutor read, in the form of questions, to Treadwell were:

Did you tell Detective Billy Ball on tape that a few days prior to this homicide of Jordan Alvarez that you were at Omar Smith's house, that he was your friend, and that the house that Omar Smith was at ... was shot up? (93:63)

(No response)

Do you recall telling Detective Ball that a few days prior to this homicide that Omar Smith's house was shot up and that Omar had been very upset and his family was also upset over the shooting? (93:64)

(No response)

Do you recall telling Detective Ball that on the day of the homicide that you were at Omar Smith's house ... and that at one point while you were over there, Omar Smith walked up to him and said, quote, come on with the heat, unquote? (93:64)

(No response)

Do you recall stating to Billy Ball that Juggy drove them to the area of 23rd and McKinley? When Juggy stopped the car he overheard Omar telling Juggy to wait for them? (93:66)

(No response)

You identified photographs shown to you of Omar Smith, who is the defendant in court here today, and you stated that Omar is the person who asked you to come with him to do the shooting? (93:70)

(No response)

Do you recall telling the detectives ... that Omar wanted to go over to the area of 24th and McKinley to retaliate because Omar Smith believed that the, quote, Deuce squad, unquote, shot at his mother's house? (93:71-72)

(No response)

Do you recall telling the police that you were armed with a .45 caliber highpoint firearm and Omar was armed with a 9mm and that West was armed with a .22 caliber Ruger with a thin barrel? (93:73)

(No response)

And you stated ... that Omar shot everything and then his gun locked back ... after West's or Weasel's gun jammed that you and Omar kept shooting? (93:75)

(No response)

There was no objection from the defense. The next day, however, defense counsel was questioning his decision to allow the questioning of Treadwell to occur without an objection (95:3; App. 116). Defense counsel explained that he had certain things he wanted to get out of Treadwell, especially if he was going to be declared (by the court) as an

unavailable witness anyway, but now had second thoughts about how things turned out (95:9-10; App. 122-123). But Treadwell just completely stopped talking, right in front of the jury. Defense counsel went on to say that, in retrospect, the questioning of Treadwell should not have been allowed, Smith was denied his right of confrontation, and the jury had been tainted as a result. Defense counsel thereupon requested a mistrial (95:4; App. 117).

In response, the State argued that there were no grounds for a mistrial and, in any event, no contemporaneous objection had been made by the defense (95:6; App. 119). The State proposed striking all of Treadwell's testimony (but because Treadwell was unresponsive, the State surely meant the questions posed to him).

The court decided not to grant a mistrial (95:12, 16; App. 125, 129). After discussing the five possible ways the problem could be handled, the court decided to strike the questions from the afternoon testimony and tell the jury to disregard them because Treadwell had refused to answer (95:14; App. 127). The court agreed with the defense about leaving in Treadwell's morning testimony (he answered a question to the effect that he and Smith were not involved in the crime). The court struck the questions/testimony and told the jury to disregard all questions and comments by the attorney and the court and any responses from Treadwell during the afternoon session (95:20-21; App. 133-134).

Despite the court's instruction, this confrontation issue was complicated with the next witness. A document analyst, named Cole Stephan from the Milwaukee police department, testified about a letter he had tested for fingerprints (95:27). He identified fingerprints from Smith, Alfonzo Treadwell, Michelle Thomas (Treadwell's girlfriend) on the letter (95:31, 34-35).

This letter was sent by Michelle Thomas to Treadwell's attorney who in turned mailed it to Detective Jeremiah Jacks (95:69-73). The letter was from Smith to Treadwell, and Treadwell's attorney obtained it from Thomas and forwarded to the District Attorney apparently as part of Treadwell's cooperation agreement with the prosecution. In the letter, read by Detective Jacks in court, Smith told Treadwell not to testify against him (95:75-78). The State referred to this letter during its closing argument: that Smith wrote, "you [Treadwell] better not testify against me" (96:113).

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