RECEIVED

05-17-2013

STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS COURT OF APPEAL OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2012AP863-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

OMAR J. SMITH,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE REBECCA F. DALLET AND THE HONORABLE DENNIS R. CIMPL, PRESIDING

AMENDED BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

JEFFREY J. KASSEL Assistant Attorney General State Bar No. 1009170 Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

Smith argues that the trial court erred when it denied his motion for a mistrial based on the State's questioning of Alfonzo Treadwell. That claim was not preserved for review because Smith did not timely object to Treadwell's testimony and move for a mistrial. Even if the claim were preserved, however, Smith is not entitled to relief

because any error in initially permitting the prosecutor to question Treadwell was cured when the circuit court, in response to Smith's belated objection, struck the challenged testimony and instructed the jury not to consider it and because any possible lingering prejudicial effect of the stricken testimony was harmless in light of the strong evidence of Smith's guilt, including, most importantly, his confession.

Smith argues in the alternative that his lawyer was ineffective for failing to object to the questioning. That claim fails because, for these same reasons, Smith was not prejudiced by counsel's failure to object.

A. Smith did not preserve his objection.

The State called Treadwell as a witness in its case in chief on the morning of the third day of trial (102:58). Treadwell testified that he had entered a guilty plea and been sentenced to prison for the shooting that was the subject of this trial (102:58-59). He also testified that he and Smith were friends (102:59-61).

The questioning took an unexpected turn when the prosecutor asked Treadwell if he and Smith were involved in a shooting that occurred on April 17, 2009 (102:61). After several nonresponsive answers, Treadwell answered "[n]o," but he then acknowledged that he was involved in the shooting (102:61-62). When Treadwell refused to answer any more questions (102:63-64), the court said that it would "pass" the witness (102:65).

The court, apparently directing its remarks to the prosecutor, then stated that "[o]ne of the things that you could certainly do is you can ask me to declare him unavailable because of his refusal to testify and then you can have his statement admitted into evidence 908.045(4), a statement against interest" (102:65). The prosecutor responded that he hoped that Treadwell would cooperate "but that is something I may request shortly" (id.). Defense counsel then told the court, "I'm sure the Court is aware of this, but we would strongly object to that. My client does have a right to face his accusers" (102:66).

That afternoon, Treadwell was recalled as a witness (93:59). The prosecutor asked Treadwell a series of questions about statements he had made to a detective about the shooting incident (93:62-77). Treadwell did not respond to those questions (id.). As Smith notes in his brief, see Smith's amended brief at 12, his counsel did not object to the prosecutor's questions (93:62-77). Defense counsel also tried without success to question Treadwell about his statements to the police (93:77-89). Defense counsel did not assert any objections or request any relief from the court (id.). It was not until the next afternoon that defense counsel moved for a mistrial based on Treadwell's refusal to testify (95:3-5).

Unobjected-to errors, including errors of constitutional dimension, are forfeited by the absence of a contemporaneous objection. See State v. Davis, 199 Wis. 2d 513, 517, 545 N.W.2d 244, 245 (Ct. App. 1996). The contemporaneous objection rule "gives the trial court an opportunity to correct its own errors, and thereby works to avoid the delay and expense incident to appeals, reversals and new trials which might have been

unnecessary had the objections been properly raised in the lower court." State v. Holt, 128 Wis. 2d 110, 124, 382 N.W.2d 679 (Ct. App. 1985) (citations omitted). Similarly, a motion for a mistrial must be made promptly to preserve a claim that the trial court erred by denying a mistrial. Mulkovich v. State, 73 Wis. 2d 464, 469, 243 N.W.2d 198 (1976).

In his brief, Smith states that his lawyer "objected on confrontation grounds at the end of Treadwell's morning testimony (102:66), but did not lodge a standing or continuing objection and did not freshly object when Treadwell was brought back for the afternoon session." Smith's amended brief at 24. As discussed above, however, the objection to which Smith refers was to the court's suggestion that Treadwell's statement to the police might be admitted as a statement against interest (102:65-66). That objection was not to the State's questioning of Treadwell about Treadwell's statement to the police, nor could it have been, as the State did not pose those questions to Treadwell until court resumed in the afternoon (93:63-77). As Smith correctly states, afternoon questioning of Treadwell proceeded without objection." Smith's amended brief at 24.3

In his postconviction motion, Smith asserted that "defense counsel was ineffective for failing to promptly object to the confrontation clause violation and promptly request a mistrial" (59:4; A-Ap. 157). He acknowledged that "[o]bjections to questioning and motions for mistrial must be made immediately, otherwise they are deemed waived" (59:5; A-Ap. 158). He further

³Notwithstanding the court's suggestion, the State did not seek to introduce his statements to the police other than through its questioning of Treadwell.

acknowledged that "[t]hat did not happen in this case, as defense counsel failed to object to the questioning of Treadwell and did not request a mistrial until the next day" (id.).

Smith's only explanation as to why he now believes that he preserved his objection is that the postconviction court noted that trial counsel voiced an objection during the morning session and that the court "seemingly considered the original objection as covering Treadwell's return to the witness stand that afternoon." Smith's amended brief at 28-29. Smith does not explain, however, why his objection to the court's suggestion that Treadwell's statement to the police might be admitted as a statement against interest may be construed as an objection to the State's later questioning of Treadwell.

"The party who raises an issue on appeal bears the burden of showing that the issue was raised before the circuit court." *State v. Huebner*, 2000 WI 59, ¶10, 235 Wis. 2d 486, 611 N.W.2d 727. Smith has not shown that he preserved his confrontation claim by making a contemporaneous objection to the questioning of Treadwell. This court should conclude, therefore, that Smith has not preserved his claim for direct review.

B. Even if Smith had preserved his Confrontation Clause claim, he would not be entitled to relief on appeal.

The State does not dispute that Smith's right to confrontation would have been violated had the jury been allowed to find, based on the prosecutor's unanswered questions, that

Treadwell made the statements to the police that were the subject of the prosecutor's questions. Because Treadwell's statements appear to have been the product of a police investigation, those statements were testimonial. See Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 52 (2004). Treadwell's refusal to answer any questions about those statements on cross-examination deprived Smith of the opportunity to cross-examine Treadwell. See Soto v. State, 677 S.E.2d 95, 99 (Ga. 2009) (finding a confrontation violation because the defendant "was given no opportunity whatsoever to crossexamine [the witness] because [the witness] 'shut down' in the midst of direct examination and refused to answer further questions posed by either the prosecution or the defense").4

However, the jury was not permitted to find that Treadwell made the statements to the police that were the subject of the prosecutor's unanswered questions. That is because, after Smith belatedly objected and moved for a mistrial (95:5; A-Ap. 118), the court gave the jury the following instruction:

[T]he court has ordered struck all testimony of Alfonzo Treadwell from the afternoon of Wednesday, November 4th.^[5] The jury is

⁴Smith argues that the prosecutor's questions about Treadwell's statements to the police violated the confrontation clause. *See* Smith's amended brief at 22-23. This court need not decide whether the prosecutor's unanswered questions, standing alone, violated Smith's right to confrontation because Treadwell remained mute when defense counsel questioned him about those statements (93:77-89).

⁵The court's reference to November 4 was mistaken. The court gave the jury this instruction on November 4 (95:1, 21-22). Treadwell was on the witness stand the previous day (93:1, 61).

ordered to disregard what occurred during the afternoon of November 4th regarding the testimony of Treadwell. In particular, all questions and comments by the attorneys and the Court and any responses given by Treadwell because there is no evidence on this record that any of those questions, comments, and responses were based in fact. His testimony from the morning of November 4th is not affected by this order and it is in evidence.

Remarks of the attorneys are not evidence. If the remarks suggested certain facts in evidence, disregard that suggestion.

(95:21-22; A-Ap. 134-35.)

When it gave the jury its final instructions, the court reiterated its admonition to disregard the questioning of Treadwell.

> The Court has struck all of the testimony of Alfonzo Treadwell from the afternoon of Wednesday November 3rd. The jury is ordered to disregard and not consider in any manner whatsoever during your deliberations what occurred during the afternoon of November 3rd regarding the testimony of Treadwell, in particular all questions and comments by the attorneys and the Court and any response given by Treadwell, because there is no evidence on this record that any of those questions, comments and responses were based in fact. His testimony from the morning of November 3rd is not affected by this order, and it is in evidence. Remarks of the attorneys are not evidence. If the remarks suggested certain facts in evidence, disregard the suggestion.

(96:94-95.)

Jurors are presumed to follow the court's instructions. See State v. Truax, 151 Wis. 2d 354,

362, 444 N.W.2d 432 (Ct. App. 1989). The instructions in this case were as clear and unequivocal as possible: the jury was "ordered to disregard and not consider in any manner whatsoever during your deliberations what occurred during the afternoon of November 3rd regarding the testimony of Treadwell" and was told that there was "no evidence" that the attorneys' questions "were based in fact" (96:94).

Smith argues that this "limiting instruction" was ineffective under *Bruton v. United States*, 391 U.S. 123 (1968), and *Cruz v. New York*, 481 U.S. 186 (1987), to protect his right to confrontation. There are, however, significant differences between this case and those decisions.

In Bruton, Bruton and a codefendant were convicted following a joint trial at which the codefendant's confession was admitted. Bruton, 391 U.S. at 123-24.The jury was instructed that although the codefendant's confession was competent evidence against the codefendant, it was inadmissible hearsay against Bruton should be disregarded and determining Bruton's guilt. See id. at 125.

Overruling Delli Paoli v. United States, 352 U.S. 232 (1957), the Supreme Court held that "[d]espite the concededly clear instructions to the jury to disregard [the codefendant's] inadmissible hearsay evidence inculpating petitioner, in the context of a joint trial we cannot accept limiting instructions as an adequate substitute petitioner's constitutional right of examination." Bruton, 391 U.S. at 137. The Court noted that "[t]he basic premise of Delli Paoli was that it is 'reasonably possible for the jury to follow' sufficiently clear instructions to disregard the

confessor's extrajudicial statement that his codefendant participated with him in committing the crime." *Id.* at 126. The *Bruton* Court concluded, contrary to *Delli Paoli*, that "the risk that the jury will not, or cannot, follow instructions" was too great "where the powerfully incriminating extrajudicial statements of a codefendant, who stands accused side-by-side with the defendant, are deliberately spread before the jury in a joint trial." *Id.* at 135-36.

In Cruz, the Court applied the Bruton rule to a joint trial in which both codefendants The Court held that confessed. "where nontestifying codefendant's confession incriminating the defendant is not directly against the defendant. admissible Confrontation Clause bars its admission at their joint trial, even if the jury is instructed not to consider it against the defendant, and even if the defendant's own confession is admitted against him." Cruz, 481 U.S. at 193 (citation omitted). The Court further held, however, that the defendant's own confession may be considered on appeal in assessing whether any confrontation violation resulting from the admission of the codefendant's confession was harmless. See id. at 194.

The Supreme Court has described the Bruton rule as a "narrow exception" to "the almost invariable assumption of the law that jurors follow their instructions." Richardson v. Marsh, 481 U.S. 200, 205-06 (1987). The Court held in Richardson that Bruton does not "require[] the same result when the codefendant's confession is redacted to omit any reference to the defendant, but the defendant is nonetheless linked to the confession by evidence properly admitted against him at trial." Id. at 202, 211.

The circumstances that led the court in Bruton to create a narrow exception to the assumption that jurors follow their instructions were not present in this case. Unlike Bruton and Cruz, this was not a joint trial of codefendants Smith and Treadwell. As a result, and again unlike Bruton and Cruz, the court here did not admit Treadwell's statements subject to a limiting instruction – that is, an instruction that allowed the jury to consider the evidence, but only for a limited purpose. Rather, the court struck the entire line of questioning about Treadwell's statements to the police, told the jury that it was not evidence, and ordered the jury "not [to] consider in any manner whatsoever during its deliberations" the questioning of Treadwell (96:94-95). The risk present in Bruton and Cruz that the jury would be unable to follow an instruction limiting the use of the evidence to only one of the defendants simply was not present in this case.

C. Any possible confrontation violation was harmless.

Even if the trial court's actions in striking the testimony and instructing the jury to disregard it had not been sufficient to prevent a Confrontation Clause violation, Smith would not be entitled to a new trial because any error was harmless. "The determination of a violation of the confrontation clause 'does not result in an automatic reversal, but rather is subject to harmless error analysis." *State v. Weed*, 2003 WI 85, ¶28, 263 Wis. 2d 434, 666 N.W.2d 485 (citation omitted).

Our supreme court has articulated the test for harmless error two ways: (1) error is harmless

if it is "clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error," State v. Mayo, 2007 WI 78, ¶47, 301 Wis. 2d 642, 734 N.W.2d 115, (quoting State v. Harvey, 2002 WI 93, ¶46, 254 Wis. 2d 442, 647 N.W.2d 189 (quoting *Neder v*. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 18 (1999)); and (2) the error is harmless if the beneficiary of the error proves "beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained," id. (quoting State v. Anderson, 2006 WI 77, ¶114, 291 Wis. 2d 673, 717 N.W.2d 74 (quoting Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 24 (1967)). Under either formulation, any error by the trial court in the handling of Treadwell's testimony was harmless.

There was no dispute at trial that three men opened fire on a group of people standing outside a house on West McKinley Avenue on April 17, 2009; that three people, Jordan Alvarez, Brittany Alvarez, and Jennifer Langoehr were shot; and that Jordan Alvarez died at the scene from a bullet wound to the heart. The primary issue for the jury was whether Smith was one of the shooters (89:84-89 (defense counsel's opening statement); 96:132 (defense counsel's closing argument that "the issue here, has the State proved beyond a reasonable doubt that my client has been or was involved in these cases, and we submit they have not proved that")).

The most damning evidence against Smith came from his confession to the police. See Cruz, 481 U.S. at 194 (even when there has been a Bruton violation, the defendant's own confession may be considered in assessing harmless error). Smith told detectives that several days before the shooting on McKinley Avenue, shots had been

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